

available at www.sciencedirect.com





SPECIAL ARTICLE

# Results from the 2nd Scientific Workshop of the ECCO (I): Impact of mucosal healing on the course of inflammatory bowel disease

Laurent Peyrin-Biroulet <sup>a</sup>, Marc Ferrante <sup>b</sup>, Fernando Magro <sup>c</sup>, Simon Campbell <sup>d</sup>, Denis Franchimont <sup>e</sup>, Herma Fidder <sup>f</sup>, Hans Strid <sup>g</sup>, Sandro Ardizzone <sup>h</sup>, Gigi Veereman-Wauters <sup>i</sup>, Jean-Baptiste Chevaux <sup>a</sup>, Mathieu Allez <sup>j</sup>, Silvio Danese <sup>k</sup>, Andreas Sturm <sup>l,\*</sup>

Received 21 June 2011; accepted 21 June 2011

#### **KEYWORDS:**

Inflammatory Bowel Disease; Ulcerative colitis; Crohn's disease; Mucosal healing

#### Abstract

Over the past years, mucosal healing has emerged as a major therapeutic goal in clinical trials in inflammatory bowel diseases. Accumulating evidence indicates that mucosal healing may change the natural course of the disease by decreasing the need for surgery and reducing hospitalization rates in both ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. Mucosal healing may also prevent the development of long-term disease complications, such as bowel damage in Crohn's disease and colorectal cancer in ulcerative colitis. Histologic healing may be the ultimate therapeutic goal in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> INSERM U954 and Department of Hepato-Gastroenterology, University Hospital of Nancy, Université Henri Poincaré 1, Vandoeuvre-lès-Nancy, France

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Department of Gastroenterology, University Hospital Gasthuisberg, Herestraat 49, B3000 Leuven, Belgium

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> Department of Gastroenterology, Hospital of São João, Porto Portugal, Institute of Pharmacology and Therapeutics, Faculty of Medicine, University of Porto, Portugal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d</sup> Department of Gastroenterology, Central Manchester University Hospitals NHS Trust, Oxford Road, Manchester, UK

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>e</sup> Laboratoire de gastro-entérologie expérimentale L'Université libre de Bruxelles, Campus Erasme1070 Bruxelles, Belgium

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>f</sup> Department Gastroenterology and Hepatology, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, The Netherlands

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Department of Internal Medicine, Institute of Medicine, Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg, Sweden

h Department of Gastroenterology-Surgery-Oncology, "L. Sacco" University Hospital, University of Milan, Milan, Italy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, UZ Brussels, Belgium

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>j</sup> Department of Gastroenterology Saint-Louis Hospital, APHP, Université Paris-Diderot, Paris, France

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>k</sup> Department of Gastroenterology, Istituto Clinico Humanitas, Rozzano, Milan, Italy

 $<sup>^{\</sup>mathsf{L}}$  Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Campus Virchow Clinic, Charité - Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author at: Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Campus Virchow Clinic, Charité, Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Augustenburger Platz 1, 13353 Berlin, Germany. Tel.: +49 30450565206; fax: +49 30450553929.

E-mail address: andreas.sturm@charite.de (A. Sturm).

478 L. Peyrin-Biroulet et al.

ulcerative colitis, whereas its impact on the course of Crohn's disease is unknown. Complete mucosal healing may be required before considering drug withdrawal. Targeting early Crohn's disease is more effective than approaches aimed at healing mucosa in longstanding disease. Several questions remain to be answered: should mucosal healing be systematically used in clinical practice? Should we optimize therapies to achieve mucosal healing? What is the degree of intestinal healing that is required to change the disease course? Large prospective studies addressing these issues are needed.

© 2011 European Crohn's and Colitis Organisation. Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

#### **Contents**

1.	Introdu	ction	78
2.	How im	portant is MH in the course of the disease? (Table 1)	78
	2.1.	Is MH associated with better clinical response rates?	78
	2.2.	Is MH associated with fewer hospitalizations?	79
	2.3.	Does MH prevent complicated disease behavior in Crohn's disease?	79
	2.4.	Is MH associated with a reduced need for surgery?	19
		Can MH predict clinical postoperative recurrence in Crohn's disease?	30
	2.6.	Is MH associated with less colorectal cancer?	30
3.	Should	we adapt our therapy based on MH? (Table 2)	30
	3.1.	Can MH be used to optimize disease management outcomes?	30
	3.2.	Is MH associated with less relapse after drug withdrawal?	31
	3.3.	What is the impact of the degree of intestinal healing on disease course?	31
	3.4.	What is the impact of disease duration and disease extent on MH rates?	31
4. Conclusion		32	
Co	Conflict of interest		32
Ac	Acknowledgments		32
Re	References 487		

### 1. Introduction

Over the past decades, several studies looked at mucosal healing (MH) in inflammatory bowel diseases. The scientific committee of ECCO has launched in 2010 a scientific workshop that focused on this significant clinical research question. The overall objective was to better understand and explore the importance of mucosal healing in inflammatory bowel disease. The outcome of this workshop is presented into four parts: Mechanisms of Intestinal Healing (Basic science), Measures and Markers of Prediction to achieve, detect, and monitor Intestinal Healing, Impact of Intestinal Healing on the Course of IBD (Natural history), and Therapeutic Strategies to enhance Intestinal Healing (Therapy). This manuscript summarizes current knowledge regarding the impact of mucosal healing on the course and management of inflammatory bowel diseases and highlights several key issues that need to be addressed in future studies.

# 2. How important is MH in the course of the disease? (Table 1)

### 2.1. Is MH associated with better clinical response rates?

With regard to Crohn's disease, D'Haens et al. reported in a substudy of the ACCENT 1 trial that patients who were

achieving MH with infliximab had a longer relapse-free survival than those patients whose MH was not reached. In a retrospective single center cohort study reporting the long-term outcome of infliximab in 214 patients with Crohn's disease, patients achieving MH experienced a sustained clinical benefit more frequently compared to patients who

**Table 1** How important is mucosal healing in the course of the disease?

### Key messages

- Mucosal healing is associated with lower relapse rates
- Mucosal healing is associated with lower hospitalization rates
- Mucosal healing is associated with less bowel damage (fistulas) in Crohn's disease
- Mucosal healing is associated with reduced need for surgery
- Mucosal lesions predict postoperative clinical recurrence in Crohn's disease
- Mucosal healing is associated with lower risk of colorectal cancer in ulcerative colitis

### Questions to be addressed in the future

- What is the impact of mucosal healing on bowel damage (stricture, abscess and fistula) in Crohn's disease in prospective studies? What is the best timing for endoscopic evaluation in the postoperative setting in Crohn's disease?
- What is the impact of mucosal healing on the risk of colorectal cancer in Crohn's disease?

### **Table 2** Should we adapt our therapy based on mucosal healing?

#### Key messages

- Mucosal healing is associated with lower relapse rates following drug withdrawal in infliximab-treated patients with Crohn's disease
- Histologic healing is associated with better outcomes in ulcerative colitis
- Greater mucosal healing rates are achieved in early Crohn's disease

### Questions to be addressed in the future

- Should therapies be optimized to achieve mucosal healing?
- Is sustained mucosal healing required to change the course of the disease?
- What is the degree of mucosal healing that is required to modify disease course?
- What is the impact of histologic healing on the course of Crohn's disease?
- What is the impact of disease duration of mucosal healing rates in ulcerative colitis?

did not achieve MH after a median follow-up of 69 months (64.8% vs. 39.5%, respectively, p=0.0004). Also, the long-term follow-up of the step-up/top-down trial<sup>3,4</sup> showed that patients achieving MH at 2 years remained in steroid-free clinical remission during the following 2 years more frequently compared to patients with persistent endoscopic activity at 2 years by combining the two treatment arms (71% vs. 27%, respectively, p=0.003).

Already in 1966, Wright et al. reported that patients with ulcerative colitis who did not achieve MH under oral and rectal steroids relapsed more frequently during a follow-up period of 1 year compared to patients who did achieve MH (40% vs. 18%, respectively). In the ACT1 and ACT2 trials, 6,7 the proportion of infliximab-treated patients with ulcerative colitis in clinical remission at week 30 was fourfold greater for patients with MH at week 8 (48.3% vs. 9.5%, respectively). In a Japanese study including 56 patients who achieved clinical remission after leukocytapheresis for ulcerative colitis and followed-up during a median of 22 months, significantly higher sustained clinical remission rates were reported among patients who had also achieved MH.8 In an Italian cohort enrolling patients with ulcerative colitis, those not achieving endoscopic remission at 3 months had a higher cumulative probability of clinical relapse (73.9 vs. 27.5%, respectively, p<0.001).9

Data on MH in pediatric Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis are scarce. <sup>10</sup> A retrospective pediatric study has compared the effect of step-up and top-down strategies in 32 children with newly diagnosed Crohn's disease. The CDEIS score was lower in patients receiving infliximab therapy (6.5) than in those receiving non-biologic therapy (12.4) and the rate of clinical relapse at 1 year was significantly lower in the top-down group receiving infliximab therapy. <sup>11</sup>

A pediatric retrospective study looked at 37 children who received exclusive enteral nutrition, comparing outcomes in these children to those of 10 children treated with steroids. Children managed with exclusive enteral nutrition achieved greater MH (64.8% vs. 40%) and had a longer duration of

remission in the 12-month follow-up period. <sup>12</sup> Data on MH in pediatric ulcerative colitis are eagerly awaited.

MH is associated with higher clinical response and lower rates of relapses in both Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis.

#### 2.2. Is MH associated with fewer hospitalizations?

In the endoscopic substudy of the ACCENT I trial, patients achieving MH at both weeks 10 and 54 needed less Crohn's disease-related hospitalizations (0.0%) compared to those with MH at only one of both visits (18.8%) or with no healing at either visit (28.0%). <sup>13</sup> In a retrospective single center cohort study evaluating the long-term outcome of infliximab in 214 patients with Crohn's disease, <sup>2</sup> patients who achieved MH needed hospitalization less frequently compared to patients who did not (42.2% vs. 59.3%, respectively, p=0.0018).

In ulcerative colitis, Ardizzone et al. showed that no MH after first course of corticosteroid therapy was associated with a more aggressive disease course. Indeed, after multivariate analysis, lack of MH was the only factor associated with negative outcomes at 5 years, including hospitalization (HR, 3.634; 95% CI, 1.556–8.485; P=0.0029). 14

MH is associated with lower hospitalization rates in both ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease.

# 2.3. Does MH prevent complicated disease behavior in Crohn's disease?

There is no or scarce data on the impact of mucosal healing on disease behavior in Crohn's disease. In a retrospective study evaluating 102 patients with Crohn's disease, the presence of deep ulcerations at index ileocolonoscopy was associated with a higher risk of developing penetrating disease after a median follow-up of 52 months (Log Rank p=0.003). 15

Significant mucosal lesions at diagnosis might indicate complicated disease behavior. However, large prospective studies are needed to further investigate whether MH may prevent complications in Crohn's disease.

# 2.4. Is MH associated with a reduced need for surgery?

In Crohn's disease, the presence of deep ulcerations at index ileocolonoscopy was associated with a higher risk of surgical resections after a median follow-up of 52 months (relative risk (95% CI): 5.43 (2.64–11.18), p<0.0001). <sup>15</sup> In a retrospective single center cohort study evaluating the long-term outcome of infliximab in 214 patients with Crohn's disease, <sup>2</sup> patients who had achieved MH needed major abdominal surgery less frequently than those who

480 L. Peyrin-Biroulet et al.

did not achieve MH (14.1% vs. 38.4%, respectively, p<0.0001). In a Norwegian population-based cohort study, <sup>16</sup> 11% of Crohn's disease patients with MH at 1 year needed a surgical resection by 5 years compared to 20% of patients without MH (p=0.10).

In 1980, Buckel et al. 17 found that while there was a tendency for anorexia, abdominal tenderness on palpation, fever, tachycardia, leukocytosis, and hypoproteinemia to occur more commonly as the depth of ulceration increased in acute colitis, no single feature or combination of these features correlated well with ulcer depth. More recently, in a French study, 18 23% of the patients without deep ulceration were submitted to surgery in comparison to 93% of those with deep ulceration. Subsequently, the same group confirmed that the presence of severe endoscopic lesions was independently associated with increased colectomy rates in acute severe ulcerative colitis. 19 In another French study enrolling 118 patients with steroid-refractory ulcerative colitis, the presence of severe endoscopic lesions was an independent predictive factor of colectomy (adjusted hazard ratio = 2.38, 95% confidence interval 1.80-3.14). 20 A Japanese study including patients with intravenous steroid refractory ulcerative colitis found lower colectomy rates at 1 year among subjects with mucosal improvement at day 14 (p<0.01). $^{21}$ 

Over the past years, some studies evaluated the impact of mucosal lesions on the need for colectomy in ulcerative colitis outside the setting of acute severe colitis. In a retrospective single center study, a longer colectomy-free survival was observed among ulcerative colitis patients who achieved MH at week 4 or 10.22 In a substudy of the ACT1 and ACT2 trials, a lower colectomy rate was reported within the first 54 weeks of follow-up in patients with ulcerative colitis randomized to infliximab compared to placebo (10% vs. 17%, respectively, p=0.02).<sup>23</sup> In a Norwegian population-based cohort study, 16 2% of ulcerative colitis patients with MH at 1 year needed a surgical resection by 5 years compared to 7% of patients without MH (p=0.02). Ardizzone et al. showed that the lack of MH after first course of corticosteroid therapy was associated with higher need for colectomy in newly diagnosed ulcerative colitis (HR, 8.397; 95% CI, 1.278-55.186; p=0.0268). <sup>14</sup>

MH is associated with a reduced need for surgery in both Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis.

### 2.5. Can MH predict clinical postoperative recurrence in Crohn's disease?

In 1990, Rutgeerts et al. demonstrated in a prospective cohort that endoscopic lesions within the first year after an ileocolonic resection for Crohn's disease predicted postoperative clinical recurrence. <sup>24</sup> Throughout follow-up, symptomatic recurrence occurred less frequently in patients who had no severe endoscopic lesions at 1 year (Rutgeerts' score 0 or 1) compared to patients with a more severe endoscopic recurrence (Rutgeerts' score ≥ i2).

In severe recurrent ileitis treated with azathioprine, the therapy resulted in induction and maintenance of clinical remission in all 15 patients. However, complete macroscopic healing of the neoterminal ileum was observed in 6 patients, near-complete healing with only superficial erosions remaining in 5 patients, partial healing in 3 of 15 patients, and unchanged inflammatory lesions in one patient, suggesting that partial healing may be sufficient to prevent clinical recurrence. <sup>25</sup>

Yamamoto et al. investigated the impact of enteral nutrition on clinical and endoscopic recurrence after surgical resection for pediatric Crohn's disease  $^{26}$ . Forty consecutive patients who underwent resection for ileal or ileocolonic Crohn's disease were randomized to receive partial enteral nutrition or a regular diet. Twelve months after surgery, endoscopic recurrence was observed in six patients (30%) in the enteral nutrition group compared to 14 (70%) in the nonenteral nutrition group (P=0.027). One patient (5%) in the enteral nutrition group and 7 (35%) in the non-enteral nutrition group developed clinical recurrence during the 1-year follow-up (P=0.048)  $^{26}$ . Thus, long-term enteral nutrition supplementation may significantly reduce clinical and endoscopic recurrence after resection for Crohn's disease.

Endoscopic postoperative recurrence predicts a worse outcome in Crohn's disease. However, the optimal timing for endoscopic evaluation remains unclear.

### 2.6. Is MH associated with less colorectal cancer?

In an epidemiological, case-control study including 68 patients with longstanding extensive ulcerative colitis who were matched to 136 controls, histological inflammation score was the only independent risk factor for the development of colorectal neoplasia (Odds ratio (95% CI): 4.69 (2.10-10.48), p<0.001).<sup>27</sup> In a subsequent study, Rutter et al. showed that macroscopically normal endoscopic findings returned the 5-year cancer risk to that of the general population (Odds ratio (95% CI): 0.38 (0.19-0.73), p=0.003). 28 Rubin et al. also demonstrated a higher risk of cancer and dysplasia in ulcerative colitis patients with a higher inflammatory activity score (Odds ratio (95% CI): 2.73 (1.44-5.18), p=0.002).<sup>29</sup> Gupta et al. confirmed that histological inflammation over time was associated with the progression towards advanced neoplasia in ulcerative colitis (Hazard ratio 3.0; 95% CI: 1.4–6.3). 30

MH is associated with a lower risk of colorectal cancer in ulcerative colitis. Such data is lacking in Crohn's disease.

# 3. Should we adapt our therapy based on MH? (Table 2)

### 3.1. Can MH be used to optimize disease management outcomes?

The GETAID<sup>31</sup> demonstrated that in Crohn's disease patients who had achieved clinical remission, adjustment of steroid

treatment duration on the basis of endoscopic results presented no benefit, and that the endoscopic aspect had no prognostic value.

In the ACCENT 1 trial, Crohn's disease patients (n=9) who had MH at both weeks 10 and 54 did not require any hospitalization. Interestingly, patients with MH at only one visit required fewer hospitalizations (18.8%) compared to those without MH at both visits (28%), highlighting sustained MH as a new therapeutic goal in Crohn's disease. <sup>13</sup>

Although MH, at least under anti-TNF-a therapy is associated with fewer hospitalisations, the question whether therapies should be optimized based on endoscopic evaluation to improve disease outcomes remains open and will require further investigation.

# 3.2. Is MH associated with less relapse after drug withdrawal?

In a placebo-controlled study by the GETAID including 83 patients in clinical remission under azathioprine, presence of ulcerations at ileocolonoscopy before discontinuation of azathioprine was not predictive for clinical relapse. 32 Recently, in another GETAID trial, Louis et al. assessed the risk of clinical relapse after discontinuation of infliximab in 109 patients with Crohn's disease who were in clinical remission under a combined maintenance therapy with infliximab and an immunomodulator (azathioprine or methotrexate). 33 In multivariate analysis, in contrast to the former study investigating relapse after azathioprine withdrawal, complete MH was among the factors strongly associated with a decreased risk of clinical relapse after infliximab withdrawal (Hazard ratio (95% CI): 2.6 (1.3-5.3), p=0.005). In this study, immunosuppression with azathioprine or methotrexate was continued.

In Crohn's disease, MH is associated with a lower relapse rate after drug withdrawal, even though this may depend on the type of drug. The degree of mucosal healing which needs to be achieved remains to be determined. With regard to ulcerative colitis, such data is lacking.

# 3.3. What is the impact of the degree of intestinal healing on disease course?

Importantly, Schnitzler et al.  $^2$  have shown that MH predicts long-term outcome with maintenance therapy with infliximab in Crohn's disease. The need for surgery was significantly different between the groups with and without MH (14% and 38.4%, respectively, p<0.0001). Interestingly, there was no difference between the groups with complete and partial MH (14% vs. 14.1%, respectively).

There is good evidence that infliximab can lead to histological improvement in mucosal biopsies in Crohn's disease. Di Sabatino et al. <sup>34</sup> examined the effect of infliximab

in Crohn's disease patients 10 weeks after treatment initiation. Six out of 10 patients had clinical response and this correlated well with macrophage matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) expression levels in the mucosal biopsies along with histological score improvement (2.66+/-0.51 at baseline to 0.16+/-0.40 at week 10). Non responders (n=4) conversely revealed no histological improvement. Similarly, D'Haens et al. have shown a good correlation between histological and endoscopic healing after infliximab in a European Multicentre trial. <sup>35</sup> The CDEIS correlated with histological score 4 weeks after infliximab therapy (r=0.56, p=0.002). However, the impact of histological healing among infliximab-treated patients with Crohn's disease is unknown.

Patients with ulcerative colitis who were in clinical remission but with histological evidence of mucosal inflammation (acute inflammatory cell infiltrate, crypt abscess or mucin depletion) had a 2-3 fold greater risk for clinical relapse during a 1-year follow-up period compared to those with histological healing. <sup>36</sup> In another study among ulcerative colitis patients, <sup>37</sup> basal plasmacytosis on rectal biopsy was as an independent predictor of clinical relapse during a 1-year follow-up period (hazard ratio (95% CI): 4.5 (1.7-11.9), p=0.003).

Whether complete or partial MH is required to modify the disease course will require further investigation. Histologic healing is associated with a better outcome in ulcerative colitis, whereas its impact on disease course remains to be investigated in Crohn's disease.

### 3.4. What is the impact of disease duration and disease extent on MH rates?

In the EXTEND trial, among 123 Crohn's disease patients with mucosal ulceration at baseline, the rate of MH at week 12 was higher in subjects with disease duration less than 2 years than in those with disease duration greater than 5 years (44 vs. 21%, respectively) in the adalimumab arm.<sup>38</sup>

D'Haens et al. found similar rates of complete MH in the ileum and in the colon of Crohn's disease patients under azathioprine for at least 9 months. <sup>39</sup> In the IBSEN population-based cohort, disease extension and location did not influence MH rates in Crohn's disease patients. <sup>16</sup> By contrast, patients with extensive disease were more prone to reach MH as compared to those with left-sided colitis and proctitis. <sup>16</sup> The relationship between disease extension and mucosal healing in this study may be partly explained by a more aggressive treatment in patients with extensive colitis. Rates of MH according to disease extent could not be investigated in randomized, controlled trials as mucosal lesions are usually assessed by proctosigmoidoscopy in ulcerative colitis.

Greater MH rates may be achieved in early Crohn's disease, even though only data from subgroup analyses are available. The impact of disease duration on MH has never been investigated in ulcerative colitis. 482 L. Peyrin-Biroulet et al.

### 4. Conclusion

MH is associated with better outcomes in inflammatory bowel diseases (clinical response/remission, hospitalizations, surgery). Some evidence indicates that MH may also reduce the development of bowel damage such as fistulas in Crohn's disease and the incidence of colorectal cancer in ulcerative colitis. Several issues remain unresolved. Should MH be systematically assessed to improve disease outcomes? In this regard, large prospective studies assessing the impact of MH and histologic healing on the natural course of inflammatory bowel diseases in the era of biologics are eagerly awaited. Another question remains open: should we optimize therapies based on endoscopic findings to change the disease course? Lastly, the timing of endoscopic evaluation and the concept of sustained MH will also require further investigation.

#### Conflict of interest

LPB, consulting and lecture fees from Merck and Abbott; MF, consulting and lecture fees from Merck, Centocor and Abbott; FM, lecture fees from Merck, Abbott, and Falk; SC, consulting and lecture fees from MSD, Abbott; HS, consulting and lecture fees from, Abbott, MSD and AstraZeneca; SA, none; GVW, consulting and lecture fees MSD, Danone, J&J; JBC, none; MA, consulting and lecture fees from Abbott, lecture fees for Merck; SD, consultant and lecture fees from Schering-Plough, Abbott Laboratories, UCB, Ferring, Cellerix, Millenium Takeda, Nycomed, Actelion, Astra Zeneca, Novo Nordisk, and Cosmo Pharmaceuticals; AS, consulting and lecture fees from Merck, Abbott, Falk, Ferring, Viofer, Shire; the other authors did not state any conflict of interest.

### Acknowledgments

- AS and LPB organized the group meeting, on behalf of the ECCO scientific committee, drafted and edited the manuscript.
- All the authors wrote specific parts of the manuscript.
- $\,-\,$  All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

### References

- D'Haens G, Noman M, Baert F, Hiele M. Endoscopic healing after infliximab treatment for Crohn's disease provides a longer time to relapse. *Gastroenterology* 2002;122:A100.
- Schnitzler F, Fidder H, Ferrante M, Noman M, Arijs I, Van Assche G, Hoffman I, Van Steen K, Vermeire S, Rutgeerts P. Mucosal healing predicts long-term outcome of maintenance therapy with infliximab in Crohn's disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2009;15: 1295–301.
- Baert F, Moortgat L, Van Assche G, Caenepeel P, Vergauwe P, De Vos M, Stokkers P, Hommes D, Rutgeerts P, Vermeire S, D'Haens G. Mucosal healing predicts sustained clinical remission in patients with early-stage Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology* 2010;138:463–8.
- 4. D'Haens G, Baert F, van Assche G, Caenepeel P, Vergauwe P, Tuynman H, De Vos M, van Deventer S, Stitt L, Donner A, Vermeire S, Van de Mierop FJ, Coche JC, van der Woude J, Ochsenkuhn T, van Bodegraven AA, van Hootegem PP, Lambrecht GL, Mana F,

Rutgeerts P, Feagan BG, Hommes D. Early combined immunosuppression or conventional management in patients with newly diagnosed Crohn's disease: an open randomised trial. *Lancet* 2008;371:660–7.

- 5. Wright R, Truelove SR. Serial rectal biopsy in ulcerative colitis during the course of a controlled therapeutic trial of various diets. *Am J Dig Dis* 1966;11:847–57.
- Rutgeerts P, Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, Reinisch W, Olson A, Johanns J, Travers S, Rachmilewitz D, Hanauer SB, Lichtenstein GR, de Villiers WJ, Present D, Sands BE, Colombel JF. Infliximab for induction and maintenance therapy for ulcerative colitis. N Engl J Med 2005;353:2462–76.
- Colombel JF, Rutgeerts P, Reinisch W, Esser D, Wang Y, Lang Y, Marano CW, Strauss R, Oddens BJ, Feagan BJ, Hanauer SB, Lichtenstein GR, Present D, Sands BE, Sandborn WJ. Early mucosal healing with infliximab is associated with improved long-term clinical outcomes in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenter-ology* 2011 (In Press).
- 8. Yamamoto T, Umegae S, Matsumoto K. Mucosal healing in patients with ulcerative colitis during a course of selective leukocytapheresis therapy: a prospective cohort study. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2010;16:1905–11.
- Parente F, Molteni M, Marino B, Colli A, Ardizzone S, Greco S, Samprieto G, Foschi D, Gallus S. Are colonoscopy and bowel ultrasound useful for assessing response to short-term therapy and predicting disease outcome of moderate-to-severe forms of ulcerative colitis?: a prospective study. Am J Gastroenterol 2010;105:1150-7.
- Veereman-Wauters G, Cucchiara S. The management of paediatric Crohn's disease: addressing unmet needs. *Open Pediatr Med J* 2008;2:21–9.
- Romeo E, Viola F, De Angelis G, Vernuccio A, Pannone V, Bizzarri B, Borrelli O, Cucchiara S. Infliximab as a first choice therapy in children with newly diagnosed Crohn's disease promotes longterm sustained remission and alters the course of the disease. Gastroenterology 2006;130(suppl 2):A11.
- Berni Canani R, Terrin G, Borrelli O, Romano MT, Manguso F, Coruzzo A, D'Armiento F, Romeo EF, Cucchiara S. Short- and longterm therapeutic efficacy of nutritional therapy and corticosteroids in paediatric Crohn's disease. *Dig Liver Dis* 2006;38:381–7.
- Rutgeerts P, Diamond RH, Bala M, Olson A, Lichtenstein GR, Bao W, Patel K, Wolf DC, Safdi M, Colombel JF, Lashner B, Hanauer SB. Scheduled maintenance treatment with infliximab is superior to episodic treatment for the healing of mucosal ulceration associated with Crohn's disease. Gastrointest Endosc 2006;63:433–42.
- 14. Ardizzone S, Cassinotti A, Duca P, Mazzali C, Penati C, Manes G, Marmo R, Massari A, Molteni P, Maconi G, Porro GB. Mucosal healing predicts late outcomes after the first course of corticosteroids for newly diagnosed ulcerative colitis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2011;9:483–9.
- Allez M, Lemann M, Bonnet J, Cattan P, Jian R, Modigliani R. Long term outcome of patients with active Crohn's disease exhibiting extensive and deep ulcerations at colonoscopy. Am J Gastroenterol 2002;97:947–53.
- 16. Froslie KF, Jahnsen J, Moum BA, Vatn MH. Mucosal healing in inflammatory bowel disease: results from a Norwegian population-based cohort. *Gastroenterology* 2007;133:412–22.
- Buckell NA, Williams GT, Bartram CI, Lennard-Jones JE. Depth of ulceration in acute colitis: correlation with outcome and clinical and radiologic features. Gastroenterology 1980;79:19–25.
- 18. Carbonnel F, Lavergne A, Lemann M, Bitoun A, Valleur P, Hautefeuille P, Galian A, Modigliani R, Rambaud JC. Colonoscopy of acute colitis. A safe and reliable tool for assessment of severity. *Dig Dis Sci* 1994;39:1550–7.
- 19. Carbonnel F, Gargouri D, Lemann M, Beaugerie L, Cattan S, Cosnes J, Gendre JP. Predictive factors of outcome of intensive intravenous treatment for attacks of ulcerative colitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2000;14:273–9.

- 20. Cacheux W, Seksik P, Lemann M, Marteau P, Nion-Larmurier I, Afchain P, Daniel F, Beaugerie L, Cosnes J. Predictive factors of response to cyclosporine in steroid-refractory ulcerative colitis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2008;103:637–42.
- 21. Kobayashi T, Naganuma M, Okamoto S, Hisamatsu T, Inoue N, Ichikawa H, Takayama T, Saito R, Sujino T, Ogata H, Iwao Y, Hibi T. Rapid endoscopic improvement is important for 1-year avoidance of colectomy but not for the long-term prognosis in cyclosporine A treatment for ulcerative colitis. *J Gastroenterol* 2010;45:1129–37.
- 22. Ferrante M, Vermeire S, Fidder H, Schnitzler F, Noman M, Van Assche G, De Hertogh G, Hoffman I, D'Hoore A, Van Steen K, Geboes K, Penninck F, Rutgeerts P. Long-term outcome after infliximab for refractory ulcerative colitis. *J Crohns Colitis* 2008;2:219–25.
- Sandborn WJ, Rutgeerts P, Feagan BG, Reinisch W, Olson A, Johanns J, Lu J, Rachmilewitz D, Hanauer SB, Lichtenstein GR, de Villiers WJ, Present D, Sands BE, Colombel JF. Colectomy rate comparison after treatment of ulcerative colitis with placebo or infliximab. *Gastroenterology* 2009;137:1250–60.
- 24. Rutgeerts P, Geboes K, Vantrappen G, Beyls J, Kerremans R, Hiele M. Predictability of the postoperative course of Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology* 1990;99:956–63.
- 25. D'Haens G, Geboes K, Ponette E, Penninckx F, Rutgeerts P. Healing of severe recurrent ileitis with azathioprine therapy in patients with Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology* 1997;112:1475–81.
- Yamamoto T, Nakahigashi M, Saniabadi AR, Iwata T, Maruyama Y, Umegae S, Matsumoto K. Impacts of long-term enteral nutrition on clinical and endoscopic disease activities and mucosal cytokines during remission in patients with Crohn's disease: a prospective study. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2007;13:1493–501.
- 27. Rutter M, Saunders B, Wilkinson K, Rumbles S, Schofield G, Kamm M, Williams C, Price A, Talbot I, Forbes A. Severity of inflammation is a risk factor for colorectal neoplasia in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 2004;126:451–9.
- Rutter MD, Saunders BP, Wilkinson KH, Rumbles S, Schofield G, Kamm MA, Williams CB, Price AB, Talbot IC, Forbes A. Cancer surveillance in longstanding ulcerative colitis: endoscopic appearances help predict cancer risk. Gut 2004;53:1813–6.
- Rubin DT, Hire DZ, Rothe JA, Hetzel J, Sedrak M, Yadron N, Bunnag A, Hart J, Turner JR. Increased inflammatory activity is an independent risk factor for dysplasia and colorectal cancer in ulcerative colitis: A case-control analysis with blinded prospective pathology review. *Gastroenterology* 2006; 130(4):A2.
- 30. Gupta RB, Harpaz N, Itzkowitz S, Hossain S, Matula S, Kornbluth A, Bodian C, Ullman T. Histologic inflammation is a risk factor

- for progression to colorectal neoplasia in ulcerative colitis: a cohort study. *Gastroenterology* 2007;**133**:1099–105.
- Landi B, Anh TN, Cortot A, Soule JC, Rene E, Gendre JP, Bories P, See A, Metman EH, Florent C. Endoscopic monitoring of Crohn's disease treatment: a prospective, randomized clinical trial. The Groupe d'Etudes Therapeutiques des Affections Inflammatoires Digestives. *Gastroenterology* 1992;102:1647–53.
- Lemann M, Mary JY, Colombel JF, Duclos B, Soule JC, Lerebours E, Modigliani R, Bouhnik Y. A randomized, double-blind, controlled withdrawal trial in Crohn's disease patients in long-term remission on azathioprine. *Gastroenterology* 2005;128: 1812–8.
- Louis E, Vernier-Massouille G, Grimaud, Grimaud JC, Bouhnik Y, Laharie D, Dupas JL, Pillant H, Picon L, Veyrac M, Flamant M, Savoye G, Jian R, De Vos M, Paintaud G, Piver E, Colombel JF, Mary JY, Lemann M. Infliximab discontinuation in Crohn's disease patients in stable remission on combined therapy with immunosuppressors: a prospective ongoing cohort study. *Gastroen-terology* 2009;136(A-146).
- 34. Di Sabatino A, Saarialho-Kere U, Buckley MG, Gordon JN, Biancheri P, Rovedatti L, Corazza GR, Macdonald TT, Pender SL. Stromelysin-1 and macrophage metalloelastase expression in the intestinal mucosa of Crohn's disease patients treated with infliximab. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2009;21:1049–55.
- 35. D'Haens G, Van Deventer S, Van Hogezand R, Chalmers D, Kothe C, Baert F, Braakman T, Schaible T, Geboes K, Rutgeerts P. Endoscopic and histological healing with infliximab anti-tumor necrosis factor antibodies in Crohn's disease: A European multicenter trial. *Gastroenterology* 1999;116:1029–34.
- 36. Riley SA, Mani V, Goodman MJ, Dutt S, Herd ME. Microscopic activity in ulcerative colitis: what does it mean? *Gut* 1991;32:174–8.
- Bitton A, Peppercorn MA, Antonioli DA, Niles JL, Shah S, Bousvaros A, Ransil B, Wild G, Cohen A, Edwardes MD, Stevens AC. Clinical, biological, and histologic parameters as predictors of relapse in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 2001;120:13–20.
- 38. Sandborn WJ, Panaccione R, Thakkar R, Lomax KG, Chen N, Chao J, Mulani P, Yang M. Crohn's disease mucosal healing in adalimumab-treated patients is affected by disease duration: results from extend. *Gastroenterology* 2010; **138**:S-164.
- 39. D'Haens G, Geboes K, Rutgeerts P. Endoscopic and histologic healing of Crohn's (ileo-) colitis with azathioprine. *Gastrointest Endosc* 1999;50:667–71.